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“Remember When” illustrations
in this book are from the pen of
Clint Kueker. In earlier years, Clint
and his family lived across the
field from Harley Flathers, eight
miles Southeast of Stewartville,
MN. Clint’s “memories” include
numerous early radio programs
and other historical events.

Today, Clint is a retired Rochester
Police Officer, a profession he
held for thirty-five years. Since
his 1991 retirement, Clint spends
considerable time volunteering
at the Federal Medical Center in
Activities Therapy and Counseling.
Clint directs plays and repeats
of early radio shows with the
inmates and has done so for the
past five years. His wife Sharon
has long been involved in Red
Cross disaster work nationwide.
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Anne Beiser Allen is a freelance
writer and researcher with a
special interest in history and
the people who make it happen.
Her work has appeared in several
historical and regional magazines.
Her book An Independent Woman,
a biography of Lou Henry Hoover,
wife of President Herbert Hoover,
was published in 2000. She is
also a published poet.

“I enjoyed working with Harley
on this project, helping him
to organize his memories and
anecdotes from his years as a
broadcaster and volunteer in
southeastern Minnesota. His stories
bring to life his experiences on a
Depression-era farm, in the polio
wards of the Sister Elizabeth Kenny
Institute, and in the radio studios
of Red Wing and Rochester.
He documents the history of
many events with which he was
closely associated over the past
fifty years in a way that will
endear him to historians of this
area for years to come.”
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Back in a Moment combines a “look
back” by this couple. Their lives were
somewhat parallel even though 6,000
miles apart from southern Minnesota
to Sidcup, Kent in southern England.
The depression era of the ‘30’s was
followed by World War II and both
families experienced rationing.

However, June’s family was watching

the skies for the London blitz by
German bombers. While she later prepared for a
professional career in nursing, Harley was set
for farming as his “way of life”. But the polio
epidemic of 1949 stopped his dreams of
planting and harvest in Fillmore County

fields. Through Divine guidance, he was

shown a new career in radio broadcasting

and radio sales which continues for more than
half-a-century. Back in a Moment shares many
stories that may parallel the lives of readers.
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FOREWORD

In the New Testament, there is a passage you can carry with you daily,
as I have: “I can do all things through Christ which strengthens me.”
(Philippians 4:13) The late Norman Vincent Peale said that this verse is an

antidote for every “defeat-feeling.” When you feel downed by situations,
and the going is hard, this statement will remind you that you do not need
to depend upon your own strength entirely, because Christ is with you and
is now giving you all the help you need. You will find yourself meeting
problems with new mental force. You will carry your burdens with ease.
Your new “lifting power” will amaze you.

The Prayer of St. Francis

Lord, make me an instrument of thy peace;
Where there is hatred, let me sow love;
Where there is injury, pardon;

Where there is doubt, faith;

Where there is despair, hope;

Where there is darkness, light;

And where there is sadness, joy;

O Divine Master,

Grant that I may not so much seek

To be consoled as to console;

To be understood as to understand;

To be loved, as to love;

For it is in giving that we receive,

It is in pardoning that we are pardoned,

And it is in dying that we are born to Eternal Life.

13th Century Guidelines for Today.




E Back in a Moment . . .

Through a half-century of collecting “special things,” I have saved this
poem that I would like to share at the beginning of this story. I wish we
had the author’s name.

Don’t Quit
When things go wrong as they sometimes will,
When the road you're trudging seems all up hill,
When the funds are low and the debts are high,
And you want to smile, but you have to sigh,
When care is pressing you down a bit,
Rest if you must, but don’t you quit.
Life is queer with its twists and turns,
As everyone of us sometimes learns,
And many a failure turns about,
When he might have won had he stuck it out;
Don’t give up though the pace seems slow —
You may succeed with another blow.
Success is failure turned inside-out —
The silver tint of the clouds of doubt,
And you never can tell just how close you are,
It may be near when it seems so far;
It’s when things seem worst,
That you must not quit.

Author unknown.
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This story started out with just a few memories in mind, but it soon got
“out of control.” And I'm glad it did. Suddenly, at 72-plus and in my 52nd
year of broadcasting, I wanted to share some “fun times.” This is not a
“tell-all” book, but rather some segments of my life, which have involved
many others, from play-time to various boards and committees, from musi-
cal concerts to parade broadcasts. We’ll go from horsepower to tractor
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from this southeastern part of Minnesota, especially in Red Wing and
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lives have intersected with mine at various points. Since this book covers
many events, you'll find quite a few actual dates, times and quotes listed,
including the birth and death dates of many other people in these stories.
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Moment 1
F.D.R. and Me: Life After Polio

As 1 was looking at the weekly Stewartville Star newspaper in April
of 2001, I saw a cartoon by my old friend Clinton Kueker, a retired police
officer from the Rochester Police Department. Clint is a fine cartoonist.
He actually grew up across the fields from me when we were young boys
in the 1940s. Clint was about five years younger than I. Bill Kueker and
his wife and their two kids, Clint and his older sister Gloria, came down
from Lake Crystal, Minnesota, and bought that 240-acre farm. I remember
sometimes seeing the family drive by on their way to the movie on
Saturday night in Chatfield or to Stewartville on Friday, or vice versa.
They didn’t stay there very many years, but they were good neighbors.

I met Clint again in 1957, when I was working in Rochester. I had fin-
ished my evening shift at KROC radio and closed up, and I went to the
Capitol Eat Shop and there was Clint, a young police officer. So we got
reacquainted. He had a strong interest in the past, and he and I later did a
lot of nostalgic interviews on radio — people like Clayton Moore (The
Lone Ranger) and Jim Jordan (Fibber McGee).

For several years now, Clint has put out a cartoon every week in the
Stewartville Star under the title “Remember When.” His cartoons are filled
with memorabilia, recalling some event during the past years. April 12
was the anniversary of the death of President Franklin Delano Roosevelt,
and so Clint’s cartoon that week was entitled, “Remember When Franklin
Delano Roosevelt died, April 12, 1945.”
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& Back in a Moment . . .

In his drawing, a nine-year-old Clint is sitting in the middle of a spare
tire, in the yard in front of his house. His dad has their 1937 Ford jacked
up and is changing the tire on the rear wheel while talking to Rob Hudson.
Rob Hudson’s farm bordered ours on the west, right along what is now
county road 2, between Stewartville and Chatfield. Rob was a good old
hard-driving, corncob-pipe smoking neighbor who liked to have a pretty
good time with spirits, but he was always there to help you out with the
threshing and such. Clint’s mother is standing at the front door, and she
calls out, “I just heard the news on the radio — President Roosevelt is
dead!” Clint drew it exactly as I remember it. That cartoon had such detail
that I thought, what a wonderful place to start this story.

Franklin Delano Roosevelt was elected president in 1932, when I was
a year old, and when he died in 1945, I was in the eighth grade. I recall
how the whole nation mourned him. Hollywood stars came on the radio,
saying, “We’re sorry to lose President FD.R.”

It impressed me so vividly because we were Republicans, and F.D.R.
was a Democrat. [ remember going with my mother and father in
November 1936 to our little Sumner Township Town Hall, where they went
to vote. The town hall was underneath the school, about three and a half
miles from our farm in Sumner Township, Fillmore County, some twenty
miles southeast of Rochester, Minnesota. I rode down with my dad and
mother, and we went in to vote. It was all new to me, and it was exciting.
They went in these little cubicles with curtains in front and voted. (I sup-
pose today there are still curtains in some places, but most of the time we
just get into a three-sided cubicle to vote.) At that time, Roosevelt’s oppo-
nent was Alfred Landon, who was from Kansas. I would hear the folks say,
“Landon or Roosevelt, Landon or Roosevelt,” and of course, Landon being
Republican, I said to my parents, “Well, I would vote for Landon and just
be done with it.” That’s what [ was saying at age five!

In 1971, when I was working at KROC, Clarence Fischer, an auto deal-
er here in Rochester, told me a great story about ED.R. It seems that in late
1933, he and Greg Gentling, who was then working for the Rochester Post
newspaper, had an idea. Clare and Greg were members of the American
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Moment 1 Q

Legion, and they knew that Franklin Roosevelt was also an American
Legion member. They wanted to bring F.D.R. to Rochester, Minnesota, to
honor Dr. Will and Dr. Charlie Mayo, and to speak at the Soldiers’
Memorial Field, which the local American Legion had created in 1926 as
a memorial to the fallen soldiers of the Rochester area from all the coun-
try’s wars up until the present.

Clare and Greg worked and worked. They wrote letters, they made
phone calls. They even went to Washington on the train, where they spent
a lot of time talking with Harry Hopkins, FD.R.s friend and political
adviser, who was then administrator of the WPA (Works Progress
Administration, one of F.D.R.’s New Deal programs). They pleaded and
begged. They said, “We want to get Franklin Roosevelt to come to
Rochester to speak at Soldiers’ Memorial Field, and to honor Dr. Will
Mayo and Dr. Charles Mayo for all they have done.” The only answer they
got was, “We’ll get in touch with you.”

So they came back home and waited and waited, and in the spring of
1934 they received word from Washington that Franklin Roosevelt would
come to Rochester on August 8, 1934, to speak at Soldiers’ Field. It was a
terribly hot day. Around 75,000 people were there. There are pictures of
it on the Rochester Post-Bulletin’s front page from that date. Roosevelt
spoke, and his speech went out by microphone to a radio station some-
where else — probably St. Paul — for transmission. (There was no local
radio at that time — Greg Gentling would not start KROC until September
30, 1935.)

After it was over, Roosevelt went on back to Washington to do his busi-
ness as president. Then in September 1938, Jimmy Roosevelt — one of
Franklin and Eleanor Roosevelt’s four sons — came to St. Mary’s Hospital
in Rochester for surgery on a duodenal ulcer. During the course of his stay
here, Franklin and Eleanor came to see him. They arrived in their own pri-
vate train car.

And the first thing F.D.R. said when he got here was, “I want the same
driver as we had in 1934 That was Clare Fischer. Clare was a dealer in
Buicks and Packards, a very nice person, a real patriot who loved his coun-
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Q Back in a Moment . . .

try and had been a soldier in the first World War. So Clare drove the pres-
ident and his party around during the course of their visit.

On September 13, President Franklin Roosevelt said, “I want to see the
countryside. I want to see what this southern Minnesota looks like.” So
they took off heading south on highway 63 towards Stewartville, an eleven
mile drive. The plan was to cut easterly on highway 30 and go on to
Chatfield, but for some reason they missed the turn — right in the heart of
town — and kept proceeding southerly for another mile and a half. There
they found a road, and turned easterly.

Well, from where they turned off highway 63 to our Flathers farm
would have been exactly 6'/: miles on that road. About halfway — three
miles or so down — they pulled over to the south and went up to see old
Fred Sandte. They didn’t know Fred Sandte, but they saw a set of build-
ings on the right about half a mile away, and they pulled into the yard.
They asked Fred for directions to Chatfield, and talked with him. They
asked him, “How are the crops?” and things like that.

I remember Fred Sandte very well. He had lost his left thumb, and had
a habit of talking out of the side of his mouth. Farmers are always com-
plaining, you know. The old joke is that when you put two or more farm-
ers together, there’ll be an argument. And Fred always had a lot of opin-
ions on a lot of things. So he visited with the president.

Then the president and his entourage went back to the east-west road
and headed easterly again.

This is where my own memory of that day kicks in. Now, it’s getting
to be about 3:45 in the afternoon, and here I am walking home from our lit-
tle country district 118 school. We’re proceeding to our farm, my sister and
[ — my sister Elaine is five years older than I am, and a good student. I'm
about seven years old, and in second grade. I'm just kind of trudging
along, heading home on a sunny afternoon, and I look up to the west for
about a mile and I see this long line of vehicles coming at us. Goodness!
All those cars! And when we get closer, I see motorcycles!

So here they come, moving along at a pace of maybe 25 miles an hour.
First there was a pair of motorcycles — they were highway patrolmen,
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though I didn’t know that at the time. Then came a convertible, with peo-
ple inside waving at us. Then a second pair of motorcycles. After that
came a big black enclosed car — and it was big! Then two more motor-
cycles, and another convertible with laughing young ladies. The convert-
ible tops are down and everybody waves at us.

After they went by us, my sister said, “Why, that’s the president!”

And L, I am sure, replied, “Oh?” When you’re seven years old, you're
not into world events yet. Things don’t impress you. You’re not awe-
stricken.

We never told a soul in school the next day, because nobody would
have believed it. In fact, I don’t know if we told anybody other than my
mother and father. Today, there probably would have been cameras along
there, with reporters interviewing the kiddies as the car went by: “How did
it feel to have the president wave to you?”

In that 1971 interview, Clare Fischer, FD.R.’s driver, told me, “Yes,
there was a time that day we actually were lost. Only God knew where the
President of the United States was!”

Well, only God and I!

I recently shared this story with my neighbor, Dr. Fred Helmholz, 92, a
retired physician who was on staff at Mayo Clinic for many years. His
memories of Dr. Will and Dr. Charlie Mayo are vivid. I said, “Fred, I've
wondered since if Will and Charlie might have been riding with the presi-
dent that day as they went from Stewartville to Chatfield.”

Fred replied emphatically, “No, the Mayos knew all the back roads.
They would not have been lost.”

In 1988, on the 40th anniversary of Franklin Roosevelt’s visit here to
Rochester to see his son Jimmy, Clint Kueker again had a cartoon in his
“Remember When” in the Stewartville Star: “Remember When F.D.R.
came and visited Rochester and drove through the Stewartville area in
September 19387 When I saw it, I wrote a letter to the editor, telling my
story about our “association” with F.D.R.

By then, I knew that FD.R. was a polio survivor, but it wasn’t until
1998, when my wife and I visited our daughter Jane in Auburn, Alabama,
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that I really came to know what an amazing man he was. During that visit,
Jane told us that not very far away was Warm Springs, Georgia, where
President Franklin Roosevelt spent a lot of time during the years that he
was recuperating from polio. Franklin D. Roosevelt was born in 1882, and
in 1921, when he was 39 years old, he was hit by polio, and hit very hard.
But despite that, he went on to become president through some of the
nation’s hardest times, fighting his own paralysis for 25 years. He never
shared his struggle with the people, though. He asked photographers to
take pictures of him only from the waist up, so you couldn’t see the braces
on his legs. When he was standing and speaking, you usually saw his son
John or one of his aides helping him to walk over to the podium, although
sometimes he actually walked on his own.

Years before he became president, he’d heard about this place in
Georgia that had naturally hot springs, and he went down there. The warm
springs made his legs feel better. He visited it quite a few times over the
years. When he was president, he built a house there that he called “The
Little White House,” and he would often conduct official business there.

June and I drove to Warm Springs to see Roosevelt’s home. Although
it was only about 65 miles from Jane’s home in Auburn, Alabama, it was
quite a lengthy drive, because it is up in a mountain area, on beautiful Pine
Mountain, Georgia. When we got up there, we toured the “Little White
House™ and all its grounds. He bought the grounds, and built the “Little
White House” and everything around it — sentry huts and quarters for his
staff to live in.

We learned more about Roosevelt when we saw some of the films at the
“Little White House” during our visit. He loved to drive, and we saw two
of his cars that were on display, with the hand controls that he personally
designed. He put a lever down for the brake, and a lever down for the
clutch (these were the days before automatic transmissions). It was amaz-
ing. He also designed his own bathtub, with a ridge around it so that he
could get hold of the edges better to get in and out. To keep the soap from
getting away, he made a place where it could slide down along the rail. He
designed his own wheelchair out of a kitchen chair — a solid wooden

6
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kitchen chair. He asked his people to put wheels on this kitchen chair so
he could get around, before the early custom-made wheelchairs were avail-
able. It was a moving experience for me, to see all those things he had
invented. F.D.R. was quite a person.

He loved his neighbors, too. He would get in that car and go out to
farms nearby and talk with the neighbors. At Thanksgiving and Christmas,
he would put on wonderful dinners for the children, and they would all eat
together at the “Little White House.”

There was a portrait of him that was being made at the time of his death
in 1945, and it was left there in the house, so you can see FD.R. as he
looked shortly before he died. You can also see the room in which he died
of a cerebral hemorrhage on April 12, 1945, right there in the “Little White
House” at Warm Springs, Georgia.

I was so moved by that visit in 1998 that we went back again in the year
2000, and spent equally as much time refreshing our memories. Having
had polio myself, and knowing firsthand what a battle it can be, 1 was
amazed at how well he managed — not just physically, but dealing with the
Depression and World War II — doing all of that together. What a person!

F.D.R and The March of Dimes

I began to develop a deeper understanding of F.D.R. during the years
1966 through 1981, when I was deeply involved in fund raising and edu-
cation for the Rochester chapter of the March of Dimes. Dr. David Welte
(now a retired optometrist in Rochester) called me one day when I was at
work at KROC, playing music, and said, “Harley, we’d like to have you
become our March of Dimes chapter’s fund-raising chairman.”

My first response was, ‘“Hey, we got polio licked!”

He laughed and said, “Well, we know that, but you know, the March of
Dimes has turned to battling birth defects now.”

I said, “Oh, yeah, I heard about that” So we hemmed and hawed
around and talked a bit and finally I agreed. From that day in late 1966 all
the way through the autumn of 1981, I was very closely associated with the
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Q Back in a Moment . . .

March of Dimes here — the first ten years strictly as a volunteer, fund rais-
er and you-name-it, and the last five years as its part-time, paid executive
director. Then I really put a lot of time into fund raising and education.

The March of Dimes began back in 1938. I can still recall the late
Eddie Cantor, a great entertainer on radio, talking about the March of
Dimes on his Sunday night program. The nation was just starting to real-
ize the seriousness of polio. We’d heard the story of Sister Elizabeth
Kenny, the Australian nurse who went to the Outback in 1911 and tried her
darnedest to get hot packs on people whose limbs would suddenly start
shriveling up and people suffering pain from polio. In 1942 she established
the Elizabeth Kenny Institute in Minneapolis for the treatment of polio vic-
tims. I saw the movie about her life, “The Sister Kenny Story,” starring
Rosalind Russell, at the Capitol Theatre in Chatfield with my parents in
1947.

Not much was known then about polio. At that time it was called infan-
tile paralysis. Later we got to know it a little better as poliomyelitis, called
polio for short. It was a disease caused by a virus in the nervous system.
Nobody knew how it came or when it would come. There were nationwide
epidemics in 1940, 1946, 1947, 1948, 1949, 1951, 1952, up to 1955. It was
a horrendous threat to public health. Heart disease and cancer were the
number one and two killers, but polio at that time was the number one crip-
pler. (We don’t use the word crippled any more — we said handicapped
for a while, now we say physically challenged. We try to keep things polit-
ically correct.)

Well, Eddie Cantor was talking one Sunday night back in 1938 on his
radio program about the seriousness of infantile paralysis, and as he was
closing his program, he said, “If we could only do something to help this.
If we could only fund it, like if everyone could just send one dime” — and
I can still hear Eddie Cantor saying that — “just send one dime, we could
call it the March of Dimes.” And so the name came about, and it worked.

Franklin Roosevelt and his law partner Basil O’Connor did a lot during
those years for the polio drive. They established a foundation for research
into the causes and treatment of polio. And through the efforts of FD.R.
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and many others — especially a figurehead like the president, who had sur-
vived the disease and fought through it — awareness of the disease was
increased. It gave people an impetus to give and to learn more about polio.

Finally, in 1952, fourteen years after the effort started, Dr. Jonas Salk
developed the Salk vaccine. I recall in 1954, when I was in Red Wing
broadcasting, the word went out that everybody needed to get their polio
vaccine. (This was before the official announcement on April 10, 1955,
that tests had proven the Salk vaccine to be effective.) So we all gathered
at a little school west of town called the Vasa Elementary School. We lined
up and were given our little paper cups of white milky fluid — that was the
polio vaccine. And people said, “Wow! What a relief!”

I said, “Yeah, what a relief — only for me it’s five years too late!”

Polio Strikes Me

Polio hit me in the summer of 1949. I had just graduated from Chatfield
High School on Friday, June 3, and I was going to farm, nothing else. I lived
with my parents, Homer and Vivian Flathers, on the old farm in rural
Stewartville that had been in our family since 1861, when Abraham Lincoln
took his first oath of office as president. My sister Elaine, who by then was
teaching school in Waseca, also lived with us on the farm during the summers.

I took sick no more than five weeks after graduation, on July 12, 1949,
while I was cultivating our corn and beans. I didn’t feel well that day, but
I kept on working. The back was hurting and the legs were hurting, but I
wanted to get that field done. That night, my dad said, “Well, we better
take you to see Dr. Risser.”

Dr. Alden Risser was our Stewartville family doctor, a man who had
been doing much good in our community for many years. (He died
December 5, 1999, at age 87.) Dr. Risser looked me over and said, “I’ll try
to get a spinal tap.” That was the key. The first thing a doctor needed to
do to diagnose polio was to tap the spinal fluid. But I was a little muscu-
lar in those days, and he couldn’t get the needle into the spine to do the
spinal tap.
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Dr. Risser said, “I don’t know. Tell you what: go home, go to bed. I'll
come out to see you at noon tomorrow, and if you aren’t any better, we’ll
send you to Sister Kenny Institute in Minneapolis.” He opted to do that
rather than Rochester, where they also had a polio ward.

The next day, July 13, 1949, we got in our old 1936 Chevrolet and drove
for three hours up through unknown areas and through the traffic there in
the Twin Cities. We got to the Sister Kenny Institute at four o’clock. I was
able to walk in on my own power, but my knees were buckling. I remem-
ber so distinctly climbing those steps in front of the Sister Kenny Hospital
at 1800 Chicago Avenue South, Minneapolis, not knowing when I walked
in there that it would be a whole ten months before I came out.

I went in, and Dr. Solgeskog took the spinal tap. I said to the nurse,
“Well, nurse, what’s the word?”

She said, “Well, I can’t say, but we have a bed for you.” And that was it.

I was there. And it hit me hard. When I awakened in the morning, I
was in total paralysis from the waist down. Very little movement has come
back in the succeeding fifty-four years. But I had good arms. The Good
Lord gave me strong arms and the will to go forward. I was thankful for
that, and I’ve never forgotten it.

When I went into the hospital in July 1949, I spent the first twenty-
eight days in what they called Contagion, or the Contagious Ward. Nobody
could come in and visit you other than the doctors and staff who were tak-
ing care of you. There were two wards: Ward | for men and Ward 28 for
women. They each had about seven patients in them. I could look around
and see others who were much worse off than 1. All my life I’ve been able
to recognize that. Most of the young men there were my age or a little
older — I was 17 going on 18, and I guess we were aged from 17 to 33 in
that first ward. There was Russ Youngburg, from Hoffman, Minnesota,
and Gordie Anderson from St. Peter. I used to correspond with them in the
earlier years, after I left the hospital. Others whom I remember so well
were Ray Hanson, from Eau Claire, Wisconsin, Bill Burnet, from
Bloomington, Minnesota, Oscar Anderson from Albert Lea, and Leonard
Anderson from Otisco, just south of Waseca, Minnesota.

10




Moment 1 i

Some of those men in the Contagion Ward didn’t live long after they
got out, because they had been so hard hit with polio in their lungs. When
polio paralyzes your lungs, you can die from lack of oxygen. I remember
one night an 18-year-old boy named Roger, over in the other corner of the
room, died. He had been in an iron lung earlier, but he was out of it, and
then he took a turn for the worse. I can hear the cries of his mother yet. It
was late at night; everything was quiet. The doctor was there, and the fam-
ily pastor, and you just knew. Finally they wheeled him out. I never knew
any more than that. But he had a severe case.

With polio, you had two varieties, spinal or bulbar. With spinal, you
had a better chance perhaps of overcoming the illness. With bulbar, you
had two results: you either got over it quite rapidly, totally, or you died. It
just depended how severe it was. I've seen it both ways. Sometimes it was
nip and tuck for several days in the iron lung and they pulled out of it.
Sometimes they didn’t.

One of the long time patients here at St. Mary’s Hospital in Rochester,
whom I didn’t know personally, was Dave Madden from Eyota. He had
bulbar polio. He was in the iron lung at St. Mary’s for many, many years,
and put up such a long fight. And finally, he died. A lot of them died in
those polio epidemic years, from 1940 into the early 1950s.

One of the survivors was a neighbor of ours out on the farm, who had
been my school teacher in my sophomore year of high school. Leslie King,
who was born on February 1, 1921, was my biology teacher in Chatfield in
1946-47. And I looked up one day to see him walking into that ward at
Sister Kenny’s with polio. His arms were hanging down like two ropes. It
was a sad thing. He could not feed himself, he could not scratch his nose.
I'd grown up with him as a neighbor who lived four miles south of our
farm, [ had him as a school teacher, and now I was two beds away from him
in the hospital. But he had a great brain and a loving wife and family, and
he got out of there eventually. His arms were still useless, but he had good
legs, and mechanics fixed his car with a floor-rotating steel plate for a steer-
ing wheel, so that he could actually drive with his feet. He went on to the
University of Minnesota and earned a master’s degree in educational admin-
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istration and a doctorate in counseling psychology. He held a high position
at the university, because he had such a brilliant mind. What a man! Dr.
King died on August 18, 1997, at age 76. Leslie King — what a fighter!

When we got out of Contagion, we were moved into a huge ward for
men. Now it was big, about fifty feet by eighty feet. It was like a barracks.
There were forty-two beds, with men and boys aged five through fifty-four.
The beds lined both walls, and there were two more rows of beds down the
middle of the room. We were on the second floor of the west wing. Our
windows overlooked the street, and we could hear the street cars going by
at all hours of the day and night.

We managed to have some fun, though, at Sister Kenny. There was an
old joke that when you came back from working with the physical thera-
pist, someone would ask, “Well, did you get any new muscles today?”

And you’d answer, “No, I’d just like to have some of my old muscles
back!”

We passed the days having physical therapy, resting, doing leatherwork
(making belts and billfolds) or talking. We watched sports on a newly-intro-
duced contraption called television, especially the Minneapolis Lakers bas-
ketball team with Mikan, Mikkelsen, Pollard, Schaefer and Martin — and
occasionally the “jumping kangaroo kid,” Tony Jaros, who hailed from
Faribault, Minnesota. There were movies on Friday nights, and church servic-
es on Sunday. On Sunday evenings, groups would come from local churches
and the like to entertain us, singing, playing accordions and other instruments.

We had quite a few youngsters in the ward, and often we would wake
up in the morning to the noise of little boys playing on the floor with their
toy cars, back and forth. Maybe one of them had a bad leg, one of them a
bad arm — children just accept it in a hurry. Little kids probably took polio
better than anybody else when they were just partially crippled. These lit-
tle guys would get up there, and we’d holler, “Hey! Quiet down now!” It
didn’t do any good, you know. Five thirty, six in the morning, you’re still
trying to sleep, and there they were playing.

Every day, we would go to physical therapy. The therapist I remember
best was a man called Higgins. I think he may have been British, although
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I’m not sure. He had some sort of accent. He would ask me, “Now, Harley,
if I buy two sheep, will they keep the grass down on 250 acres?”

I told him, “Well, you might need a few more sheep than that.”

In physical therapy, the first thing they did was to put hot packs on your
legs. These were steam packs, wrung out dry and wrapped around your
thigh, calf and foot, with a plastic wrap over it to keep the heat in. The hot
packs were Sister Kenny’s invention. Then, when they removed the hot
packs, the therapist would lift your leg, and then he would say, “Okay, now
you do it”” And of course, I couldn’t.

They told me after my initial exam that I might have French polio —
Guillain-Barre, I think they called it. They told me that most people did
better with that type in the long run, whatever that meant. I know now that
Guillain-Barre Syndrome isn’t the same thing as polio, although it’s also
caused by a virus. From the symptoms I had, I think I probably had gen-
uine spinal polio.

I had treatment for paralysis from the waist down, and although I start-
ed out with my legs totally paralyzed, within thirty days my toes were start-
ing to wiggle. Now, more than a half century later, they still do little more
than that.

Approximately three months after my arrival at the Elizabeth Kenny
Institute, I actually met the famous Sister Kenny herself.

It was mid-morning on that October day — enema time for many of us
patients, since polio had a way of shutting down the body’s systems. One
of our fine young male attendants (orderlies, as they were called) was
administering this every-other-day procedure to me. There I sat, on my
“throne,” as the bedpans were affectionately called. A curtain on wheels
had been pulled around my bed to give me some privacy. My orderly was
called Bay Trelawney, an English-sounding name that made me think of
the characters in Robert Louis Stevenson’s “Treasure Island.”

I can still see Bay, standing at the foot of the bed, just inside the cur-
tain, holding up a small container of warm soap suds and letting them run
down a rubber tube into my body. It was about 10:30 am when Bay said,
“Oh my gosh, here comes Sister Kenny!”

13
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Still holding the warm soapy water above his head, to maintain a prop-
er flow of gravity into the tube, he reached into his white shirt pocket with
his free hand, pulled out a black comb, and quickly ran it through the hair
covering his forehead. He wanted to be sure that he was “patiently correct”
when Sister Kenny arrived.

She paused long enough to look over the curtain and say to me, “Good
morning, and how are you, young man?”

I replied, “Just fine, thank you.”

And she moved on, visiting many of the other forty-two patients in that
big ward full of men and boys.

Oh, if I'd only had the vision at that moment to whip out a microphone
and cassette machine and ask her some questions, as I would do today! But
at that moment, that particular 18-year-old lad was just interested in getting
off his “throne” and staying off — and in getting back home again. I had
no inkling then of the new broadcasting career I would be starting three
years later, with its continuous joys and successes.

There were so many brave men and women whom I met there in the
Elizabeth Kenny Institute. In the big ward, I met Herb Krippner, a 33-year-
old farmer from Owatonna, and his 5-year-old son Stan; his 2-year-old
daughter Virginia was in the women and children’s ward down the hall.
Then there was Lloyd Nelson from Luck, Wisconsin, a city famous for its
yo-yos. There was Louis Hoiser, from Tomahawk, Wisconsin, and Dr.
Dick Burke, from Lincoln, Nebraska. Bill Fabian was a sugar beet farmer
from the Red River area of northwestern Minnesota, the oldest man there
at age 54. Bill Frawley, aged 11, was from Faribault. We had Elmer Kuhl,
from Goodhue, Dave Eilenfeldt, from Mankato, Dale Edberg, from Belle
Plaine, Les Walker, from Oklee, Johnny Moline and Ronnie Gustafson,
from Minneapolis. In the bed next to mine was Alger Dahlien, from
Richfield. I remember Marvin Wolf, Delmar Anderson and Luther Steen.
We were teenagers, little kids, older adults. Charles Hale transferred early
to St. Mary’s Hospital in Rochester. There was a married couple, John and
Muriel Hustoft, turkey farmers from Willmar, Minnesota. And there were
others whose names I’ve forgotten. Polio was no respector of gender or age.

14

I Tg—

[ T T Y SNy



Moment 1 g

I stayed in the Sister Kenny hospital over Christmas in 1949, because I
wasn’t in any shape yet to go home. My parents visited me as often as they
could. Another couple who visited several times were Paul and Ida
Gunderson, friends of ours from church, whose sons both had polio. Dick
and Dennis Gunderson, aged ten and twelve respectively, were hit with polio
in the summer of 1949, shortly after I was. Dick was hospitalized for sever-
al weeks with me at Sister Kenny. As I recall, his case was bulbar, which
usually damages the throat and weakens the lungs. Patients often require a
tracheotomy on the throat just to be able to breathe. Little Dick recovered
after just a few weeks there. At first, I remember his consuming a lot of pop-
sicles when other foods were impossible for him to swallow. Dennis was not
hospitalized, and Dick came home in a few weeks, in recuperation.

I remember that Paul Gunderson had a 1948 Chrysler, with fluid drive
transmission. When it was time for me to come home, Paul Gunderson
came up to Minneapolis in that Chrysler and brought me home.

Treatment at the Sister Kenny Institute cost $10 a day — $300 a month.
To my parents, this was a shocking amount. They just didn’t know how
they were going to be able to come up with that amount of money. And
yet, what choice did they have? That was where the Fillmore County
March of Dimes came in. My dad went down to their office in Preston, and
they said to him, “Can you afford five dollars a week?” Well, yes, he
thought he could manage that. And the March of Dimes paid the rest, out
of the money they were collecting every year in their fund drives. In 1949,
you could buy a fancy new car or 80 acres of good farmland for the $3000
it cost for my ten months’ stay at the Sister Kenny Institute.

On May 10, 1950, after learning how to walk again in a limited fashion
with crutches, I went home to the farm and slowly got started doing farm
work again. I drove the tractor in July, cultivating corn. You couldn’t keep
me off that John Deere B tractor — I had to be there! For three summers,
with my dad, I did everything I could, tractor-work wise. It was awfully
difficult to hook and unhook a plow or a disk, but once you got that hooked
up, I could go ahead and do a full day’s work. I didn’t spare myself. I
guess | was young. I just didn’t want to stop.
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But when winter came, with the snow and ice, that’s when I realized I
had to stop. There was nothing I could do in the winter. Most days it was
impossible for me to walk across the yard. I would have to find something
else.

And what I found, of course, was radio broadcasting.
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Sister Kenny Hospital 1800 Chicago Ave. South., Minneapolis. Huarley spent 10 months
there, 1949-1950. Photo from archives of Sister Kenny Hospital and Abbot Northwestern
Hospital. Photo taken in 1942.

lron Lung, « life-saving
machine for thousands
during polio epideniic
vears. Photo courtesy
Mavo Clinic Archives.

Room filled with lron
lungs. Los Angeles Co.
Hospital during  polio
epidemic 1952, Photo
from CDC Waushington.
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Polio  Patients  forget
Cares in Drama Class.
Terry LeClaire coaches
patients  into  Shakes-
peares best that Kenny
Institute could produce.
Some names L-R . . .
Marvin  Wolf, Martha,
Johnny Moline, Louis
Hoiser, Tomahawk, Wis. &
Terry LeClaire, instructor.
At right Harley Flathers,
18 and still slender.

Dismissal Day, May 10, 1950. Harley is now
medically discharged from Elizabeth Kenny
Institute in Minneapolis following 10 months of
Kenny treatment. At left is Vivian Hannen, a top
Physical Therapist at the Institute. (Photo:
Stewartville Star)

Fellow patient Ray Hanson and
Nurse Hylda Rhylick. Ray from Eau
Claire, Wis. Hilda each night would
rub our lower spines and tail-bones
with CITROX to help prevent bed
sores. We nick-named her the
“FANNY RUBBER.” Both have
since died. Christmas photo 1981
from Lorraine Hanson, Ray's wife.

Harley Home on
the farm with his
“Kenny  Sticks”
and dog “CHUM”,
Winter 1951. Photo
by my Mom.
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Moment 2

Not Everyone Can Be A Flathers
Edward Flathers & His Descendants

Recently while recuperating from surgery on my right arm, I read John
Hildebrand’s book, Mapping the Farm. John is a professor at the
University of Wisconsin at Eau Claire, and he acquired first hand informa-
tion on the O’Neill family. He wrote this book in the early 1990s about a
family that had come to the United States from Ireland after the potato
famine in the late 1840s and 1850s. Eventually they settled in Marion
Township, about seven to eight miles southeast of Rochester. In the upper
1970s or early 1980s, John Hildebrand married Sharon O’Neill, a daughter
of one of the sons who owned that farm in the last half of the 1900s. I
found the book interesting, because it parallels our Flathers family history,
which dates back to England in the mid-1700s.

The facts we have are based on a lot of research that was finally put into
a book in 1988 by a man named Jennings Flathers, a distant cousin of mine.
He wrote two books on the family, and the second, hard-cover book is titled
Edward Flathers and His Descendants: Ten Generations in America. To
follow the story from that first Flathers to where we are today in this com-
munity fascinates me.

I once told Jennings Flathers, “Anyone could end up a Smith, a Jones
or a Johnson, there are so many of them, but it takes guts to be a Flathers.”
Although it’s a typically Anglo-Saxon name, there aren’t a lot of us around
who use it.
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This does have one advantage. If you’re looking through historical
records for people named Flathers, you’re pretty sure that the ones you find
are our relatives.

In reconstructing the story of how the first Flathers came to America, |
have combined my memories of the stories my father told me repeatedly
during my early years with notes from Jennings Flathers’ book on the
Flathers family.

Edward Flathers was born in England in 1755. He grew up at a time
when England was changing from a mainly agricultural country to a semi-
industrial one. Young people from the countryside were crowding into the
cities, where they hoped to find employment. Those with a sense of adven-
ture flocked to ports like Bristol, Liverpool and London, where they had
the possibility of travel to the New World. It was common in those days
for young men to be “impressed” by roving gangs of thugs who virtually
kidnapped them off the streets and sold them to sea captains, who took
them to the colonies and sold them to landowners as indentured men. They
then had to work for the landowner for a period of time, usually seven
years, to “pay off the cost of their passage.”

The story my father told me, which he had heard from his father and
his grandfather, was that young Edward and his brother Benjamin had been
standing on the bank of the River Thames in London, when a captain
approached them and asked if they would like to come aboard and “view
the craft.” Once on board, they were not allowed to leave, and they were
taken to the New World. Around 1774, when this took place, a captain
could get twenty pounds for an able-bodied man.

The real truth is buried in time, but in 1992 we found a reference to
Edward and Benjamin Flathers in Coldham’s book, “English Convicts in
Colonial America” (Polyanthos 1974). According to this source, the two
arrived in America separately. Edward, who was identified as a stowaway,
arrived in Virginia in 1774. Benjamin, whose address is listed as St. Paul,
Covent Garden SW, arrived in June of 1775. The book doesn’t say whether
he “stowed away” or not, but it says that he eventually went to the West
Indies. However it was that he came to America, we do know that Edward
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Flathers was an indentured man who worked for several years in Fauquier
County, Virginia, until he paid off his passage.

Edward served in the Virginia militia during the American Revolution,
probably as a paid substitute for other men — a common practice at that
time. Family tradition places him with Washington’s army when it crossed
the Delaware River in December 1776 to attack a Hessian brigade at
Trenton, New Jersey, and at the Valley Forge encampment during the terri-
ble winter of 1777-78. In 1781, he worked to build a road through the
Virginia forest for Washington to use during the siege of Yorktown.
Edward Flathers was present on October 19, 1781, when General
Cornwallis’s British Army surrendered at Yorktown. As a member of the
Virginia militia guard, he helped to march the 7,000 British and Hessian
prisoners of war 250 miles north to a prison camp near Winchester, Virginia.

In 1988, my wife and I visited Jennings and Elizabeth Flathers at their
Virginia home and toured Yorktown’s battle site, where the British General
Cornwallis had surrendered to General Washington. All the old cannons
were in battle positions high above the town. Visiting this historic site
makes you appreciate what those new *“Americans” accomplished when
they “stepped up to the plate” to start the preservation of freedom.
Jennings had just completed his book on the Flathers family when we vis-
ited him. He died the following year, in March 1989.

When the war was over, young Edward Flathers acquired some land,
probably as payment for his service in the Virginia militia during the war.
He also had three slaves, probably given to him as payment by those men
for whom he substituted in the army. He may have sold the slaves for more
land. In 1797, when he was 42 years old, he again appears in official
records, married to a woman named Clarissa Legg.

After the birth of three children, Edward and Clarissa decided to sell
their property in Fauquier County and move west, hoping to find more fer-
tile land upon which to settle permanently. They reached Greenbrier
County, in what is now West Virginia, in 1785. By the time they left West
Virginia about eleven years later, they had six children. They traveled
through the Cumberland Gap to Kentucky, on the trail made by Daniel
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Boone. It seemed that every time they got to new land that seemed to have
fertile soil, someone else had already staked a claim to it. This is the sad
part of moving west. You know land is there, and you want to know, how
can we get it? How can we stake the claim?

They stayed in Kentucky until 1829, and then finally they moved to
Hendricks County, Indiana. By this time, their sons had grown up, and
they moved to Indiana, too. Edward died there in 1847, at the age of 92.
His wife, Clara, died two years later, at the age of 94. They are buried in
the Gentry family cemetery, which is just a little cemetery, outside of
Danville in Hendricks County. June and I visited Danville, and found the
cemetery. We could see it at a distance, but it’s up in a cow pasture, so we
didn’t go up to the graves. We were told that a man was taking care of it,
keeping it mowed, at least during the 1970s and 1980s. We don’t know
what condition it is in today.

Edward and Clara had six children, four sons and two daughters. As I
grew up, I learned that I was the sixth generation to bear the Flathers name
after Edward’s arrival in America. In our particular line, Edward had a son
named Isaac, and he had a son, Lindsey, who was my great-grandfather.
Lindsey had several sons and daughters, but two in particular that I want to
mention in conjunction with this story are William and John Wesley.
William’s son was my father Homer. Then you have myself, Homer’s son,
and then my sons, Edward John and Jeffrey Alan, making seven genera-
tions in our family that are named Flathers.

Lindsey Flathers and his family decided to leave Danville, Indiana, in
1854. Lindsey’s brother-in-law John Pace had moved to Minnesota in
1852, and his descriptions of the place evidently convinced Lindsey that he
should come, too. They took the train to Dunleath, Illinois, just across the
Mississippi from Dubuque. There they got on a steamboat and worked
their way up to Winona. John Wesley and Will were still young boys. Will
was born in 1848, and John Wesley was born in 1845. When they walked
out behind the covered wagon, driving their few head of cattle from
Winona to Pleasant Grove in 1854, they were 8 to 10 years old. Their sis-
ter Nancy was 6, and there was a baby brother, Milton, who would die a
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year later in Pleasant Grove. Three more children were born after they got
to Minnesota.

The family acquired a farm about three miles northeast of Pleasant
Grove, where Lindsey Flathers raised his boys to manhood and managed a
good piece of land. He started out, I believe, with a quarter section, locat-
ed just a mile west of highway 19 on county 139. Eventually they built a
large brick house and a stone barn, both of which are still standing. The
farm is owned now by Janet Lowrie. When Lindsey and Mary Flathers
sold the farm, it was sold to a Lowrie family, and it’s belonged to the
Lowries ever since.

Lindsey helped his two sons, John Wesley and Will, acquire land in the
early 1860s. John Wesley’s farm was about a mile and a half from the orig-
inal farm, and Will’s farm — my home, where I grew up — was about four
miles away from it, and three miles southwest of John Wesley’s. Those
men had to break the land and clear the trees, using oxen. Our home farm
had originally been 160 acres, but all the years when I grew up there, it was
120 acres. My father often said he was so proud that our home farm had
been officially put in the Flathers name — homesteaded — by his grand-
father in 1861, the same year that President Abraham Lincoln took the oath
of office.

John Wesley Flathers

John Wesley Flathers’s story is an interesting one. He finished
Chatfield High School, and then got involved in some positions in Olmsted
County and on the soil conservation board. He ran for state office in 1888,
and was a state representative in the Minnesota legislature until 1892.
After that, he came back and was a businessman here in Rochester, acquir-
ing property. He was on the welfare board, and was a county commissioner
in Olmsted County from 1904 till 1920.

In downtown Rochester, John Wesley lived on the land which is now a
parking lot directly north of the Franklin heating station. On the east is the
former Martin Hotel, now the Colonial Inn, directly across 2nd Street
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Southwest from the Plummer Building. When John Wesley Flathers lived
there in the early 1900s, before the Plummer Building was built, the Mayos
were just getting started with their clinic work. They hadn’t really built a
clinic yet. Where today’s Siebens Building is located on Ist Street
Southwest, a block north of the Plummer Building, is the site of the
original red brick Mayo Clinic Building, built in 1914. At the turn of the
century, on that site, was the home occupied by Dr. William Worrall Mayo,
father of Dr. Will and Dr. Charles Mayo. That home was razed in 1912,
and the red brick 1914 Building, the first Mayo Clinic, was put up in its
place. It remained there until 1986, when the Siebens Building was
constructed. In 1928, the Plummer Building was built, and that really was
the beacon to Rochester — twenty-eight stories high, complete with
a carillon.

So John Wesley Flathers lived just a block away from Dr. William
Worrall Mayo. I have a feeling there might have been a little competition
between them for who was doing the most things in the community,
because shortly after John Wesley returned from the Minnesota legislature,
Dr. William Worrall Mayo became a state senator.

Around 1904, a group of Lutherans came to John Wesley Flathers and
said, “Mr. Flathers, we’d like to buy this piece of property where you live
here downtown.” (That would be the corner lot at 2nd Street and 2nd
Avenue Southwest.) And so, for a sum of $2500, they bought the proper-
ty and built the Evangelical Lutheran Synod Church of Rochester. (Second
Street Southwest was called Zumbro Street at that time, so the church in
1926 changed its name to Zumbro Evangelical Lutheran Church. It
remained on the 2nd Street corner from 1909 to 1927.)

After he sold his house on 2nd Street, John Wesley Flathers moved
west to what is now 14th Avenue. The new St. Marys Hospital was just
starting then, on 2nd Street Southwest just east of his property. He owned
a lot of acreage that he developed into Flathers Addition, with homes along
14th Avenue Southwest from 2nd Street Southwest for many blocks south.
In the early 1900s, 14th Avenue Southwest was called Flathers Avenue.

John Wesley was a county commissioner then — in fact, he’d been a
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county commissioner for the past sixteen years. He’d built several houses,
including four big block homes where the Blondell Motel is now located,
at the corner of 14th Avenue and 2nd Street Southwest. I can remember
when they were torn down in the late 1960s and 1970s, when the motel was
being planned.

He’d married Olive Collins of Pleasant Grove back in 1873, and she died
in 1913. A few years later (we don’t know how many), he married Myra
Agnes Sloan of Belchester, Massachusetts and moved to Southgate, Cali-
fornia. From there, in 1920, he resigned as county commissioner. He had to
make an important vote on property that he owned, and he resigned because
he didn’t want a conflict of interest. His term was nearly over anyway.

John Wesley Flathers served his county very well, as county commis-
sioner and on the welfare board. He and a Mr. Russell had owned the
Stewartville Elevator at one time. They also owned lumber yards, and he
had an interest in a grocery store. I suspect that, when he was on the wel-
fare board, the vouchers that were issued to those on welfare may have
been redeemable only at John Wesley Flathers’s grocery store.

John Wesley Flathers died in California in 1928 at the age of 83, sur-
vived by his third wife, 1da Elliot Flathers who is buried with her parent in
the Elliot lot at Oakwood Cemetery, Rochester. He is buried at Pleasant
Grove’s Union Cemetery, near his.parents, Lindsey and Mary Pace Flathers.

I tell this story because I am proud of what the Flathers family has done
in Rochester before me.

William Murry Flathers

Will Flathers, my father’s father, and his wife Rachel spent their mar-
ried life on our home farm, on what is now county road 2. Today all the
buildings are gone, with the exception of one, a hog barn that our neighbor
Claude Bernard and his father helped my dad build in 1938. Only the
memories remain.

My dad told us how his father used to carry water forty rods uphill to
the house from a spring when the family lived northeast of Pleasant Grove.
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Once when Grandpa Will went out there, he found a big buck deer stand-
ing in the water, and it wouldn’t let him near the spring.

Grandpa Will also told my dad about a trip that he took to Winona, fifty
miles away. He took that trip many times. Driving a team of horses, it took
five days, Monday through Friday, to get a load of wheat to market there
and return home. Once, while he was there, he bought two hand corn
planters and brought them back to show his sons. “Boys,” he said, “see
what they have invented. Something to plant corn with! What will they
think of next?” At that time, it took two men with hoes to plant twenty
acres, with two boys following behind to drop the seed corn in the ground.
The new gadget was called a “chuck-planter.” June and I donated the last
one to the Olmsted County History Center after my dad died in 1977.

Will used to raise turkeys. Now, turkeys would sleep in the trees at
night, and it seems that there was a lot of theft going on in those days as
well. One time the family was away from the farm, and when they came
back, they found that the turkeys, most of them, had been stolen. Grandpa
Will Flathers said, “Don’t say a word to anyone. Don’t say a word, don’t
breathe a word.”

Years later, in some particular gathering, a man came up to him and
said, “Mr. Flathers, did you ever find out who stole your turkeys?”

And Grandpa Will said, “Nope! Not until now!”

Will Flathers married Rachel Eichhorn on December 2, 1874. Rachel
was born in Germany on July 18, 1857. She came to America with her
family when she was ten years old. The ocean crossing on the steamship
Schmidt was a stormy one, and it made a deep impression on Rachel. Years
later, she wrote a song about her experiences, which was published in 1885
by the Occidental Music Company in Chatfield, and we have a copy of that
song today. The voyage, which should have taken twelve days, lasted four
weeks, and when they arrived in New York, they found that they had been
given up for lost. From New York, the Eichhorns went by rail to Winona
and then by oxcart to Racine, Minnesota, where her uncle lived.

Although she had loved school in Germany, Rachel’s first day at school
in America was so miserable that she never went back. The children
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laughed at her because she couldn’t speak English. Over the next few
years, she taught herself to speak, read and write in English. As a hired
girl, she would make a point of placing the newspapers she used to line the
shelves with right side up, so that she could pick out familiar words that
someone had spelled out for her and memorize them. Later in life, she
became a dynamic public speaker, visiting local meetings of the Women’s
Christian Temperance Union (WCTU) and giving impassioned talks with-
out the use of notes.

She was also a talented musician. When the officials at the Church of
Christ in Pleasant Grove told her that they would buy an organ if she would
learn to play it, she agreed and became the church’s first organist. She also
gave piano lessons.

Will Flathers, my grandfather, died on June 10, 1915, at the age of 67.
He suffered a lot during his life, because a tree limb had fallen on him
when he was eight years old, crushing his collar bone and chest. They did-
n’t expect him to live. For the rest of his life he had a sunken spot in his
chest and he had a difficult time breathing. A lump on his shoulder turned
out to be a loose piece of bone that his wife removed nearly sixty years
later. But when he died, he died of appendicitis. He had been recovering
from surgery performed fifteen days earlier at St. Mary’s Hospital in
Rochester, when he suddenly grew worse and died. Those were the days
before penicillin, and even the best surgeons couldn’t always prevent infec-
tion, especially with abdominal surgery.

My grandmother, Rachel Flathers, died in Mankato on October 26,
1943, at the age of 86. She had lived forty-three years in each century. She
was a large woman, and I remember her funeral well. While the minister
said a prayer, the coffin was held in place over the grave by ropes extend-
ed across a tubular metal frame. It was to be lowered when the prayers
ended. Suddenly one of the ropes slipped and the coffin tilted sharply. I
can still hear my Aunt Ila crying out to the pall bearers (my cousins Dale
and Lyle Turner among them), “Don’t let her fall, boys! Don’t let her fall!”
And they didn’t. 1 was twelve years old then, and it made quite an impres-
sion on me.

29



Q Back in a Moment . . .

My great-grandfather Lindsey and his wife, my grandparents, my par-
ents and some other Flathers are all buried at Pleasant Grove, fifteen miles
southeast of Rochester. When I die, my grave will be in the same lot, next
to my great-grandfather, Lindsey.

Homer William Flathers
1898-1977

My father was 16 years old when his father died. Homer Flathers was
born on August 22, 1898, and was the youngest of Will and Rachel’s five
children. He attended the same little country school (built in 1866) that I
did, and in his 8th grade year, his sister Ethel was his teacher. He once told
Elaine that he never worked so hard at schoolwork in his life as he did that
year. Ethel would continue to “teach” him at home in the evenings at the
kitchen table, to prepare him for high school.

Dad was a close man with a dollar. Of course, most of those people
who lived through the Great Depression were tight-fisted — they had to be,
to survive. But my Dad learned the value of money early. Belva Dumez
Bernard, who grew up on a farm a mile and a half west of ours, was just a
bit younger than my father. Dad was born in 1898, and I think Belva might
have been two, maybe three years younger. As children, they became
friends, because their parents were friends. In the late 1950s, Belva com-
piled a history of Pleasant Grove and Stewartville, and she told me tales of
when she and my father were growing up in the early part of the century.

One of the things they did, my Dad told me as I was growing up, was
to go to the fair, the Olmsted County Fair in Rochester, together with his
parents, Rachel and Will Flathers. The fair was then held on land across
from the present canning factory in Rochester.

Belva described their adventure that day, when she became Dad’s first
financial secretary, in a letter she wrote to me in September 1984: “As to
Homer and Belva’s adventure at the fair,” she wrote, ‘““as I recall we each had
nickels. Likely a total of 25 cents each. But we were not to buy food. Believe
me, we fingered those nickels, and Homer purchased a tiny shell case pock-
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etbook for Belva to carry the money. Likely took one or two of our nickels.
In recent years, I donated that purse to the Olmsted Historical Museum.”

Through that day at the county fair, my Dad told me years later, Homer
and Belva went on some rides. 1 don’t know whether they adhered to their
instruction to buy no food or not, but when the day was done, they still had
some change left from their original fifty cents. And they were tired. They
curled up together in the back seat of my grandfather’s buggy as they rode
home. It took three hours and fifteen minutes to travel from the Olmsted
County fair in Rochester to the home farm. Dad used to tell me, it took
three hours with a real fast team of horses, or if you let them lag a little,
and take their time, it was 3 hours and 15 minutes. The road they took was
the Poor Farm Road, also called the Dubuque Trail (today county road 1),
that goes through Pleasant Grove and Simpson to Rochester.

“Another event I recall,” Belva wrote in her letter, “when we were older
and going to a community picnic at Tunnel Mill, Homer drove the team.
His cousin Lesley Kinsley rode in the front of the surrey, while Ila Flathers
[that’s Dad’s older sister] sat between Myrtle Kinsley and Belva as chap-
erone in the back seat, much to the lads’ disgust. Anyway, we were always
friendly neighbors of the various Flathers families.”

When Dad went to Pleasant Grove on a Saturday morning in the spring of
1913 to take the state examinations for entry into high school, his father drove
him the four miles to the school, but he couldn’t wait around until Dad’s exam-
inations were over, because it was planting time and he needed to get the hors-
es back to the farm to use in the fields. Dad had $1 that his mother had given
him to buy a new pair of shoes, so that he would look respectable when he took
the test. The shoes cost 80 cents, and he was to use the rest to buy some
bologna and crackers for lunch. Well, he did that, and passed the test, and then
he walked home. In the fall, he went to the high school in Stewartville.

After his father died, Dad and Grandma Rachel continued to farm for
several years. Then they rented the land out and Rachel, Aunt Ila (my dad’s
sister), and my father all moved to Mankato, so that Ila could attend col-
lege. Dad took a year of business college in Mankato, but then found he
wanted to get back to farming.
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He met my mother, Vivian Raabe, of Spring Valley, and she being the
musician she was and he loving music as he did, they fit together well.
They were married on November 28, 1922. They spent a couple of years
in California, to see if they wanted to live out there. It took them seven-
teen days to drive from Minnesota to California, and there were only about
forty miles of paved road along the way. Dad worked as a carpenter, and
Mother gave piano lessons, but by 1924 they had decided to come back to
Minnesota and the farm. They went through the Depression, had us two
children (Elaine on May 12, 1926, and Harley on August 27, 1931), and
spent the rest of their lives there on the farm, until my Dad’s death on
October 6, 1977. My mother lived to be almost 90. She died on January
6, 1983.

The Flathers farm then was sold. My father had bought a second farm,
just east of Sumner Church, and we continued to operate it for a number of
years, renting it out. We finally parted with it in the early 1990s.

I'loved the farm. I love the memories of the farm, from the time I was
a small lad. I remember my sister, my Dad and I, all out there cultivating
corn with three pairs of horses pulling three single-row corn cultivators
across those fields. It was a wonderful experience. I never saw my dad
start planting a crop in the spring, but what he would stop and offer a prayer
first. He knew the soil, and he knew what it meant to be close to God.

I can still see my Dad plowing with those six horses on a two-bottom
gang plow. I remember myself walking behind four or five horses and two
sections of digger, digging the field, or five sections of drag, twenty-five
feet wide, walking for hours. These are things that a young lad remembers,
growing up. And then, of course, finally getting to the place where we
could order that Model B John Deere tractor to make life a little easier. We
waited three years for that tractor during the war, from 1943 till 1946.
When it finally arrived, it came to the Olmsted County Implement store,
the John Deere headquarters, on 4th Street Southeast in Rochester, a site
now occupied by the Dos Amigos II restaurant in the restored train depot.
The original depot had been built there years earlier, in the mid-1800s, and
other businesses later occupied the site. But in 1946 it was the John Deere
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place. In the spring of 1949, we would buy our John Deere combine there.
It was a Model 12-A pull-type combine, with a six-foot cutting bar and a
20-horsepower Wisconsin motor, and it sold for $1950.

Vivian Raabe Flathers
1893-1983

I need to give my mother’s family equal time. Vivian Jenny Raabe, my
mother, was born February 16, 1893, at her home near Spring Valley. She
was the fifth daughter, followed by three brothers, for a total of eight chil-
dren born to Theodore Raabe and Carrie Rathbun. Theodore Raabe’s par-
ents had come from Germany, and settled first in Dodge County,
Wisconsin, where Grandpa Theodore was born in 1858. After a few years
in Wisconsin, the Raabes decided to come to Spring Valley, Minnesota.

Theodore Raabe’s father, Ludwig Raabe, had saved his money. He was
a very frugal person. They had to be back at that time. They tell me that
in 1867, when someone else was looking at this very fine quarter section
of land near Spring Valley, and the real estate person was trying to sell it to
him, there stood old Ludwig Raabe nearby, with his hands in his pockets,
and in the end, he pulled out the cash and paid for the land himself. He
bought it right out from under that other fellow’s nose.

They had very little, but they worked hard. Theodore Raabe eventual-
ly amassed up to half a section of land, farming all of it with horses.
Theodore Raabe and Carrie lived together 32 years before she died in 1915,
at the age of 52. Then in 1919, Theodore married Myrta Tebay, and lived
with her for 32 years before he died at age 92, on September 1, 1950.
Theodore and Myrta had one daughter, Ione, born in 1921.

I have fond memories of Grandpa Raabe. He was a craftsman who
could make furniture and build houses and barns. He was not only a
farmer, but he also sold insurance, and he loved story-telling.

Theodore Raabe built a huge home, called Pinehurst, on that farm,
which was located about three miles southeast of Spring Valley. They built
the house in 1899, when my mother was six years old. It was a 17-room

33



& Back in a Moment . . .

home, three stories high, and it was the first home around with a bathroom
upstairs, with a cistern and a pump that could pump water up to a tank on
the third floor, so that they could have running water in the bathroom in
their home. The house is now owned by the Harvey Merkel family, who
have lived there for about the last forty years. It is still in beautiful condi-
tion. It’s cared for very well during the years, and it is a fine sight to behold.

Mother grew up on the farm and went to school in Spring Valley. She
loved music, and after graduating from Spring Valley High School in 1913,
she went to Minneapolis, where she studied piano and music theory at
Northwestern Conservatory and then at MacPhail School of Music. She
studied under Theodore Bergman, an organist. After she graduated, she went
on and taught piano at MacPhail, until she married my dad on November 28,
1922. With her schooling, she began a music career which stayed with her
throughout her life. She was the church organist and pianist at our Sumner
Center Church for over forty years, and also gave private piano lessons.

My sister Elaine and I had the opportunity to learn piano from our moth-
er. Elaine did a very good job of learning to play the piano early on. I may
have had free lessons at home, but not enough spanking was done on my rear
side for it to sink in, because I could always find something else to do.

“Practice your lesson, Harley,” mother would say.

And I'd say, “I got work to do. I got chores to do.”

Actually, when I was in the 8th grade, about 13 years old, I was play-
ing hymns and doing very well. But that skill dropped away. I was like
many other kids — unless they stay with it, it drops. But I developed a love
for music, nonetheless.

Elaine Flathers

My sister Elaine has meant a lot to me as a sister. She not only learned
to play the piano, but later put in a full life of teaching school. She gradu-
ated from Mankato High School in the spring of 1944 and went on to
Mankato State Teachers College, graduating in 1948. Then she started
teaching at Waseca, Minnesota, where she remained for thirty-six years.
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During that time, she made trips to Minneapolis and other cities, taking
continuing education classes, until she earned her master’s degree in
English in 1958.

The newspaper in Waseca published a story one year on some of the
teachers who had been named teachers of the year. Elaine Flathers was one
of those who were honored. The paper said that Elaine, “who taught 7th
through 9th grade English and served as declamation coach for 17 years,
spent all of her 36 years teaching in Waseca. The rural Stewartville native
began in 1948 at a salary of $2475 per year.” I remember we thought at the
time, when she told us about her contract, that the $2400 was for teaching
and the $75 was for her work in declamation, or “declam,” as they called
it. Elaine did a super job of teaching for all those years in Waseca.

She also is a writer. She wrote stories about the life of my mother.
She’s a real historian, who contributed to the Flathers family genealogy,
and helped to draw up the Raabe and Rathbun sides of my mother’s fami-
ly for our own family tree.

I have a copy of a letter that Elaine once wrote to the editor of the news-
paper about her first teacher at district 118. She called it “A Tribute to My
First Teacher.” Elaine wrote, ‘“Dear editor, This month as a special recog-
nition for teachers, I would like to pay tribute to Mrs. Harold King,
Minerva Ellis, my very first teacher and lifelong friend. In the days before
kindergarten for rural students, she took a very shy little girl onto her lap
and taught her to love to read in district 118 in Fillmore County. Last June,
I retired from teaching after 36 years in the Waseca Public Schools. I've
always been grateful for that good first year that started me down the road
to education. Signed, Elaine V. Flathers, Waseca, Minnesota.”

Elaine told me she was very angry as a little girl when this man, Harold
King, came and took her teacher away to be married, and she could no
longer have her as a teacher. Those were still days when most school dis-
tricts wouldn’t hire married women as teachers. Many people knew and
loved Harold and Minerva King over the years. They were great friends of
our family and members of our church for more than 60 years. I knew
them growing up. They both died in the 1990s.
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Stewartville . . . 8 1/2 miles west of Chatfield on County #2. All buildings from this 1955
photo are gone but one.

R

Pleasant Grove Cemetery . . . Sometimes referred to as “Evergreen” Cemetery in earlier
years. Also called Union Cemetery. At least 16 Flathers family members are buried here.
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Christian Church in Pleasant
Grove. Built in 1860s.
Burned down in 1948. Bricks in
church came from Pleasant
Grove Brick yard. Several
homes in the area were built
from Pleasant Grove bricks
including ours.

‘ l"' &7 -
Christian Chinech

My grandparents William &
Rachel seated. Back row L-R:
daughters lla & Ethel, and sons
Clarence & Homer. 1910 photo
which means my father is 12.

Theodore Ruabe & wife, Carrie
(Rathbun). 5 daughters . . . my
mother, Vivian at right in back
row. Others L-R, Laura,
Flossie, Louise and Lillian.
Sons L-R, Ralph, Ted and
Clifton. Photo, Aug. 11, 1911.
Seven years later Ted would die
in bartle WW .
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right. Wife Carrie at right of porch on ground. My mother, Vivian is 7 years old, top of
steps, holding a doll. Home is still a “showplace” today owned by the Merkel family.

Elaine V. Flathers, my sister, just before retiring at
Waseca Public Schools, where she taught English for
36 years.
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Moment 3

When I Grow Up,
I’m Gonna Be A Farmer

In those early years, I loved so much being with my Dad on the farm.
We didn’t have a tractor. We had horses, cows, pigs and laying hens. And
we carried lanterns instead of electric lights. We did oat threshing, silo fill-
ing and shredding of corn.

I had fun during those years, growing up with him. I would look for-
ward to Friday nights, because then I didn’t have to go to bed early to get
up for school the next morning. He taught me how to box. We didn’t have
boxing gloves. We used big old padded mittens. Of course, as a little fel-
low, I would hit as hard as I could, and he had to be careful that he didn’t
hit back as hard as he could.

I loved working out in the barn with him. I’d say, “Dad, am I helping?”
And Id pick up a fork, and we’d start cleaning the barn.

He’d say, “Yeah. Am I helping?”

And I’d say, “Yeah!” One time, | remember saying, “Dad, am I getting
paid for this?”

He said, “Yup!”

[ said, “Oh, goodie! How much?”

And he said, “The same pay I get. If we all work hard and pull togeth-
er, we’ll have a roof over our heads, we’ll have food to eat, we’ll have a
place to sleep, and we’ll have fun together.” And you know, it worked!

I learned how to do farm work, and I wanted to work. I wanted to be
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there when calves were born. When we sold calves and cows. When we
carried straw in during a windy night to bed the cows. When we got up in
the middle of the night to check on whether the lambs were born yet.

When I was in high school, we had a flock of sheep, and sheep have a
tendency to want to deliver baby lambs in the middle of the night, on the
coldest night, and so we had a plan. We would take turns. Every two
hours, one of us would go out —at 9, 11, 1, 3 and 5, and then by 7 we were
all up anyway. Everybody took a turn to check on the lambs, or baby pigs,
or calves. Many a time, we would go out, and there was a baby lamb, or a
litter of pigs, and one was very cold, or maybe it was a runt. We would
bring that little animal into the house and put it in a box behind the kitchen
stove, where it could be warm. It would come in barely breathing, and in the
morning that little lamb would be going, “Baaa!” Or if it was pigs, they’d be
squealing. Then you would take them back to be with their mother.

You just haven’t experienced life till you can see it like that on the farm,
looking after the animals. It was the same way with horses. We lived with
the horses, saw baby colts being born and being created. If young folk
haven’t had a chance to see these things first hand, they can’t possibly under-
stand them. When you live with them, you aren’t surprised by these things.

These farm memories stay with me, and I treasure them. The reason
why I've become so involved in our Rochester Agriculture Committee
since 1980 is to try to encourage young folks to go into agriculture, and if
they’re in 4H or whatever, to stay with it. They don’t all have to go out and
farm, but if they love it, there are so many facets to agriculture that they can
pursue today. A lot of good things can come of it.

Those Old-Time Threshing Days

One of the events that I have vivid memories of, that always pleased
me, took place in late July or August — threshing time on the farm. It was
exciting, because this big machine would come in to finalize what we’d
been doing, harvesting those fields of grain.

First we would put the oats into bundles with a grain binder, and then
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get them shocked so they could dry. You set up about six or eight bundles
together on their butts, standing up like a little wigwam, and then you laid
one bundle across the top to be the cap of the shock. When you tucked it
down, it became a protection for the other bundles. It was a wonderful
sight, to see the field full of shocks, but let me tell you, it was even more
wonderful when the field was cleared of shocks, and what was left was a
big golden straw pile.

Threshing played a big role in our lives. When I first was old enough
to really appreciate this process, the threshing machines were run by gaso-
line-powered tractors. The era of the steam engine, which was an exciting
thing in itself, was over by then. But the process was the same. There were
still bundle teams. The farmers would get together and form a threshing
ring, as they called it. Maybe there were seven or eight farmers in a two or
three mile radius, and one of them owned a separator, a threshing machine.
(There were many names for it. You could call it either a threshing
machine or a grain separator.)

They’d have a threshers’ meeting first, to decide where they’d begin.
They’d say, “We’re going to go ahead and try to take care of each one, and
we hope there’s no rain, so that we can get this done without going on for-
ever.”” You might have a sunny half day of threshing, and then the rains
would come for two or three days, and you’d lose the rest of the week. Or
you might go through a whole session, get six of the seven farmers done, and
then the rains would come and the last one just wouldn’t be done till later. It
was just one of those things. In farming, a lot depends on the weather.

There was so much preparation, especially for the women. Every
mother just had a momentous job. Usually she had a neighbor or two in to
help, and a daughter, and maybe the neighbor’s daughter, depending on the
size of the threshing ring. When you have up to twenty men to feed, you’ve
got to have help in the kitchen. It takes a lot of help, a lot of planning. If
you could always get the job done in one day, it might be fine. If you can
get noon dinner done, and then supper, you’ve done a big day, because
there are dishes to wash, too, and then you no more than get done and
there’s the next meal to prepare. In later years, the threshers began to want
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an extra lunch at 4 o’clock, so somebody would bring out a gallon pail full
of sandwiches. The threshers loved that, because they didn’t have to stop
the threshing machine. Those fellows that were running bundle teams, they
took a couple of sandwiches and went back to work, eating on the way to
the field. Nobody has an appetite like men who are threshing or filling
silos. It just takes a lot out of them, and they’re always ready to eat. So
the women are kept busy in the kitchen, preparing meals.

Outside, I can see this big threshing machine now, coming down the
road, pulled by an F-20 Farmall tractor, about a 1937 or 1938 model, driv-
en by my uncle Henry Turner. Uncle Henry was married to my Dad’s sis-
ter, Ethel. They lived about three miles south of us, so we were on the very
north edge of their threshing ring, which was mostly down around Sumner
Center. There were some others involved in it, the Leibolds and Earl
Ellenberg and others. When Dad went threshing down there, he had the
farthest to go. He had to travel about three miles with his bundle team
before he pitched his first bundle. But that’s the way it went. They got it
done. Then they all had to come up and help us. Henry’s teenage sons,
Lyle and Dale, helped out. Lyle could do a lot of work. Dale was a little
younger, but he could do some work, and he always looked forward to
mealtime very much. We all looked forward to mealtime, especially if
there were hot dogs!

So that big threshing machine would come in, and they’d get it set up,
and the men would come and load those bundles of oats. After a while, I
got old enough so that I could tend the blower. My Dad would be up on
the straw pile, gently stacking it, trying to make a nice firm base that you
could build a pile of straw on, because that was very important. The straw
pile supplied the straw that we would use for bedding the cows in the win-
ter. If you had a good straw pile, you knew that you were going to have
good bedding for your livestock in the winter. So we would work to build
that straw pile, and it was dusty! I mean, this was a dusty job, threshing,
and it was always hot. But it was so much fun to see that big straw pile
forming. And when it was done, there was just a kind of quiet atmosphere
in the barnyard.
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We had to keep the cattle away from that straw pile for a while, because
they would run and play in it, and suddenly it would start looking like a
toadstool, thin in the bottom and fat on top. Then you had the danger of
the straw pile capsizing, turning over on you. So we were very careful to
keep them away until it actually settled. Once the straw pile has settled,
and the winds have come and driven it, and winter comes, your straw pile
is safer, and the cattle are safer.

So we would work on building the straw pile, and then at noon we
would stop. The men would tie up their horses, get them watered, maybe
unhitch them from the wagons. They would come in and eat, and oh, how
they would eat! Afterwards they would leave the house and sit in the shade
to rest a while, and I can still hear some of the stories being told. Finally,
someone would say, “We’ve got to get back at it,” and they’d go back to the
fields. It probably wasn’t more than an hour and a quarter at the most that
the machines were stopped. And then the next day, when we were done,
they would go to another farm. It was always good when the job was done.

A farmer would say, “Okay, I’ve helped you thresh two days, and I only
threshed one, so you owe me three or four dollars. Or I'll come and help
you out sometime.” Very little money changed hands. Farmers had a way
of helping each other with a kind of barter — “Hey, I'm going to need you
for the weekend,” or “You can come back and help me when we’re shelling
corn, or when we’re shredding. You owe me a half day.” Nobody really
got hung up on it. Only the man who had the threshing machine would be
paid in cash. That was the agreement. And the same went for silo filling.

Henry Turner did our threshing for a number of years, with Lyle and
Dale helping out, and then Rob Hudson came into the scene for a few years
in the early 1940s. Rob had a threshing machine on his farm just immedi-
ately to the west of us, so that was a little closer home. I think we only had
about four people in that threshing ring, but it worked out well.

Then in the later years, from 1945 to 1948, we did our threshing with
Bill Baker, who had the farm adjoining us on the north. Bill had a 1936
Allis Chalmers U tractor. It was a powerful thing, and I can remember
when Bill got it new. I was just a little fellow, less than half a dozen years
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old then. I remember that he loved to go out and plow late at night. His
tractor did not have lights on it, but his eyes got used to the darkness, espe-
cially if the moon was out. I could hear him late in the evening, that trac-
tor humming, half a mile to a mile away. Bill Baker and his wife Rose
were our neighbors. Their children, Harlan Baker, my dear friend all those
years in school, and his sister Marjorie, and I all went to school together at
district 118, and their sister Eileen was one of our teachers for two years,
1942-43 and 1943-44.

We had some wonderful neighbors during those years. Neighbors
would always help neighbors out, too! Some of them had tractors, some of
us just had horses.

Finally, when we got into the late 1940s, I said to my Dad, “I think
we’ve threshed enough, dad. Let’s get a combine.”

I remember the first time I saw a combine. In 1935, Dad had decided
to break up one of our fields that we had used as pasture. We had some-
one break it up with a tractor and plow, and then he planted flax. And it
produced very well. When it came time to be harvested, he called on good
old neighbor Ed Hale.

Ed, Robert and John Hale were three brothers who grew up on a farm
just about two miles straight west of Sumner Center Church, toward
Racine. They were big farmers, as was their father before them. To show
you how big their farm was, I’ll tell you that their barn was 50 feet wide
and 202 feet long. Those who remember the Hale Barn know what I'm
speaking of. They had hired men by the dozen. Day laborers would say to
themselves, “Hey, I think maybe I can find a job at Hale’s.” They were
always taking on men. They needed a lot of men, because they had well
over a section of land. (A section would be 640 acres.)

Well, Ed Hale came to our farm with his new Allis Chalmers combine.
I was then four years old. I can see myself yet, this little fellow standing
along the roadside watching, saying in awed tones, “Ed Hale and his com-
bine!”

Ed Hale was so kind. All the years I was a kid, Robert and Ed Hale
were just two of the finest people we knew. They were leaders in their
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community, in so many things — farm organizations, Farm Bureau and 4-
H. I’ve gone to their home often for summer Farm Bureau meetings on the
lawn. When you went to Hale’s, it was an experience.

Everybody knew the Hale brothers. Ed and John Hale died in recent
years. The last brother, Robert, died on February 25,2002, at the age of 94.

In the 1970s, the Hale brothers hosted an old fashioned threshing bee
on their farm. A fellow named Roger Byrne, from Racine, who loved old
tractors and engines, organized it. John Hale, who was a railroad engineer
for a great share of his life, owned the steam engine, so naturally they had
the event there on the Hale farm, and it was a memorable day. The ladies
from Racine Methodist Church served pie, coffee, Mexi-burgers and all
that good stuff that we remember.

They held that threshing bee at Hales’ for a few years in the early
1970s, and then they carried on a few years more with Threshing Days in
Racine, at the Clarence Klenke farm. Eventually the whole thing moved
into the Root River Antique Power Association at the 5-Js campground
north of Spring Valley on Highway 63, and it continues there annually.

It’s the love of these things from the past that makes these old thresh-
ing bees continue today in farm states like Iowa, Nebraska, Minnesota and
the Dakotas. They use steam engines and tractors, both. They hold one
here at the Olmsted County History Center every year during their mechan-
ical history days in late July or early August, when actual threshing would
have been going on. They have some old fashioned threshers, and the men
who run them are men who had grown up with the steam engine and know
how it was done. It’s good to know that a certain group of people care
enough about history to preserve it for those who would otherwise never
have the opportunity to experience it first hand. I've been fortunate, being
able to see things like this in my own life on a working farm.

I Love Those Tractors!

I was always intrigued by farm tractors. They had all that power, while
we were farming with horses. 1 got to know everybody’s tractor in the
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neighborhood. Fred Baker bought a new Massey Harris with huge rubber
tires in 1937. This was an eye-opener, since so many tractors then were
still on steel wheels with those dangerous protruding lugs.

Bill Baker had a 1936 Allis Chalmers U. Walter Engel had an F-20
Farmall, and Harry Carothers a DC Case. Theodore and Otto Baker had
two tractors, a 10-20 and a 15-30 McCormick-Deering, both of them with
wide steel wheels with lugs.

In 1940, Art and Loretta Finn and their son Roy moved into the neigh-
borhood from Byron, and soon afterward they bought a John Deere B. Dad
liked that one, so we ordered one in 1943, but we had to wait until after the
war for it to be delivered.

Earlier, between 1938 and 1940, I'd seen Lyle Buchholtz driving a John
Deere D tractor when they lived across the field from us. (That was before
Lyle came down with polio in 1941.)

In the late 1940s, the Pat Horan family moved onto the farm adjoining
ours on the east. Soon they bought a Massey Harris 44-4 Cylinder, then a
Massey-Harris 44-6. There was a lot of power in those tractors, and 1
remember how their son Lyle Horan’s eyes really lit up when he talked
tractors.

Today I have a few miniature tractors, John Deere, Case and Farmall,
on a shelf in my den. Oh, the happy memories they bring back of those
days when we went from horsepower to tractor power!

Early Farm Auction Sales

Farm auction sales probably haven’t changed a lot from when I was a
lad. The main difference today is that there are more electronic approach-
es to this whole thing. You have cell phones and calculators and things like
that. But there’s still an auctioneer. There still needs to be a crowd. There
still needs to be a farm.

Sadly, many farms have been sold during the years just to pay off a
debt, sometimes going back to the Depression years. Back in the 1930s,
they had what they called the Sheriff’s Sale. Farmers would band togeth-

46




Moment 3 Q

er, and they would bid maybe a penny or two, just enough to satisfy the law
that said the farm had to be sold. The auctioneer knew, and he wouldn’t
push too hard. When the auction was over, a little money, very little, was
given to the farmer, but the regulation was fulfilled, the auction sale would
happen. Then the farmer could buy his farm back again for what was paid
for it. Those things happened before I was old enough to get into the auc-
tion sales.

But I remember in the mid- to upper-1930s, when I was starting to go
to auction sales with my Dad, oftentimes you went just because it was a
neighbor, and you were curious. You wanted to see how something sold.
Sometimes you bought something when you didn’t expect to. My Dad was
always coming home with buckets full of junk which he’d paid maybe a
quarter for.

The auctioneer would start the auction with all the little stuff, the small
tools. They always had buckets of junk spread out on the hayrack. There’s
a half-used roll of barbed wire. Here’s three fence posts. Here’s a pretty
good jack for your car. Here’s a plane, a saw, a hammer, nails.

I can hear the auctioneer say, “A quarter! 50 cents! Homer, give me
50 cents!” Finally Dad would nod, and he’d have bought two buckets full
of junk.

Usually, when he got home, he found out that he had some pretty good,
valuable things, along with the junk. There’d be tools, nails, bolts.

At these sales, you could buy the kind of things that pile up, that farm-
ers use — window panes maybe. Sometimes you might even buy a cow. I
can recall one time, when I was a little fellow back in the mid-1930s, my
folks coming up to the Thurber farm auction near Rochester, out about
where Willow Creek Golf Course is now, and buying four fine dairy cows.

One other thing you could buy at an auction was farm machinery,
whether it was tractors, or old junk machinery, or good machinery. During
the early 1940s, when tractors were not being made because of the war
effort, the sale of new tractors came to a standstill. As I said earlier, we had
to wait three years for our new tractor. So when farmers had a tractor to
sell at auction, the government, the local commodity control office, would
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put a sealed bid price on it. This was a maximum price that could be bid
on this particular item. Of course, the newer the item, the more expensive
it could be. Mainly it was tractors back then. We hadn’t gotten into com-
bines yet, or corn pickers, in the late 1930s or early 1940s. They were just
not being made yet in big numbers. Tractors were the big thing, and any-
thing to do with the war effort, like tires.

I'recall in 1942 Dad and I went to an auction sale in the heart of little
Eyota, Minnesota, and looked at a little John Deere B tractor. It was just
what we wanted. So we put our name in the hat. All the people who want-
ed that tractor put their names in the hat. That meant you were willing to
pay $540 — that was the sealed auction bid price on that little tractor. After
that, you were on the luck of the draw. Everybody was hoping his name
would be drawn from the hat, and that he was the one that would be the
buyer. The story always went around, that so-and-so had a lot of friends,
and they stuffed his name in there 25 times, “and you know he bought them
a beer afterwards.” Well, we put our name in and we hoped, but we didn’t
get it. Somebody else did. After that phase of a farm auction, during the
war, as my Dad said, “Only one person laughs — the winner.”

Going to an auction sale was always interesting. You saw a lot of
neighbors, you saw a lot of strangers. There was always a certain sadness
to a farm auction, because it usually meant that something bad had hap-
pened. The announcement might read that, “Due to an accidental death,
Mrs. So-and-so is selling all her property at such-and-such a time and such-
and-such a date, clerking by such-and-such a bank, auctioneer is....”

The church ladies aid always sold a meal there. They had Mexi-burg-
ers, or some type of hamburgers, hot dogs, pie, ice cream and coffee.
Those were the standard things at farm auctions then, and still are today.
Wherever there’s an auction, there’s got to be food, because when people
are standing around, especially if they’re out in the cold, they will buy food
when they won’t buy anything else.

The auctioneers themselves are a story. Many of those old-time auc-
tioneers, I'm sure, were self-trained. I recall Rochester auctioneers L.A.
and M.E. Fellows — Leonard Fellows and his son, Marty. They were good

48




Moment 3 Q

auctioneers. There was another auctioneer named Fred Hilmer, out here at
Golden Hill. In Stewartville, we had Roger Griffin. And there were many
others during the years. You got to know them, and they knew you.

I can remember the Ed Hunt auction, early on. Ed and Louise Hunt
lived about a mile or so east of us. The auctioneer would ask the farmer to
go ahead and describe the cow. “Well, how about this cow? What can she
do?”

And Ed said, “This cow is a good cow. She’s right in all four quarters.
She milks in all four quarters. Anybody could milk her. Even my wife
could milk her.”

The auctioneer replied, “You mean your wife has always milked her,”
and there was a great burst of laughter around the sales ring.

Those were the kind of things that the farmers and auctioneers would say.

I heard my dad tell that story many times. The auctioneers had many
stories. They were always telling stories. They wanted to keep the crowd
laughing, keep them happy, because then the people were more ready to
buy. The buyers answered the auctioneer with as little as a nod or a wink.
Some buyers did not want it to be known that they were bidding. They
would maybe raise a hand or say, “Yup!” Usually, there was a person in
the ring, working the auction, spotting, and when somebody looks at him
and they wink, he will say, “Yep!” and the auctioneer will know that a bid’s
been made. This goes on while the auctioneer’s still chanting, keeping the
price going.

It is an art indeed. My cousin Dale Turner, of whom I've spoken
before, changed professions from farming and went into auctioneering in
1952. He went to the auctioneering school in Mason City, Iowa, and
became a fine auctioneer. He later developed a career in hotel management
at the Kahler Hotel in Rochester.

Most auctioneers have to start out by doing the church basket social,
doing the rummage sale — doing things that are free. Auctioneers, all their
lives, will do some things free. I've seen our Ist District Representative,
Gil Gutknecht, doing the Salvation Army Auction, free. There are various
others that do auctions free, going in a series for a fall festival at St. Francis
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Church Parish, or St. Pius Church. Wherever a church is having a fall fes-
tival, and there is also an auction, they’ll be there, and usually they don’t
charge for it. John Kruesel, a well-known Rochester auctioneer, has
for years given his time for the Rochester Arts Center’'s Whole Earth
Auction. These people have done so much, and they continue helping the
community.

The Egg and Milk Men

Growing up on the farm, I recall sometimes getting rides home from
school with the egg man, Red Christianson, from Lanesboro. Often he
would have a sandwich left over at 3:30 or 4 in the afternoon, and maybe
he had a cookie or a banana, and he would share it with me when he gave
me aride. He would pick me up on the way home, because he was going
to stop and pick up a case of eggs at our farm. I was always cleaning eggs,
because this was part of our income. We would sell Red a case of eggs,
and he would put them in the truck and take them back to Lanesboro
Produce Company. We sold a case or two of eggs every week (that’s 36
dozen, or 432 eggs to the case.)

When the folks started paying me for cleaning eggs, they would give
me any change they got when Red paid them. He always paid in cash.
They would give me the change. One time, I remember, I got 4 cents.
Next time it might be a nickel, or a quarter, whatever. One time I came in
with the money, and I said to the folks, disappointedly, “Oh, just dollars!”
Just dollar bills, I meant, no change, no money for me. Years later, Red
opened the Feed and Egg Produce store in Stewartville, and he was there
for many years.

My parents in those early years had several hundred laying hens,
because eggs provided cash income. Cream or milk was also sold, and
those items supplied the cash-flow for day-to-day living. Occasionally
there would be veal calves or boars or gilts for sale. Hogs were valuable
both on the market and for breeding purposes. All of these facets of farm-
ing were vital to our financial survival.
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One of our faithful milk men from 1941 to 1944 was Byron Lowrie.
He would come by regularly to collect the milk from our dairy cows. He
later became a farm implement dealer, and we bought our Ferguson 30
tractor from him in late 1952. I loved that little tractor. It could snake
along three 14-inch plows. It was a little tractor, but it had a lot of power.

Another milk man in the 1930s was Francis Haney, from Simpson,
Minnesota. We didn’t sell milk directly to Rochester Dairy. We sold our
cream to Simpson Creamery, which in turn brought it up to Rochester
Dairy. Elaine and I would sometimes ride to school with Francis Haney in
his little cream truck.

How and why did we sell cream instead of milk? We had a small herd
of milk cows, and dad felt it best to separate the whole milk that came from
the cow into cream, which we would sell, and skim milk, that we would
feed to baby calves and hogs. Our livestock diversity of cows, hogs and
horses was important. It all helped to pay off the farm debt and to buy new
machinery.

I love the memory of turning the crank on that DelLaval Cream
Separator, that was made in Holland. Dad bought it brand-new for $100 in
1935. It had a big bright red seven to eight gallon open bowl-type tank
with a white enamel interior, mounted on top of a heavy base stand to hold
the fresh milk from the cows. When the last cow was milked, I would start
slowly turning the handle, which set up a rotating action of high-speed
metal discs that separated the milk from the cream. A bell rang to keep us
from turning the crank too rapidly while separating. There were two spig-
ots, one for cream and one for skim milk, sending it out into other five-gal-
lon cooler cans. There’s just nothing nicer than drinking fresh, newly-sep-
arated milk.

But, oh, the work for Mother each morning, to completely wash all the
milking pails, cans, discs and the tank, after we carried it to the well-house
when we finished the morning milking!

In the early 1940s, we quit separating milk ourselves and started sell-
ing whole milk, as farmers do today, through pipelines and bulk tanks and
bulk trucks.

51



% Back in a Moment . . .

Have You Heard The One About The Traveling Salesmen?

I have vivid memories of the traveling salesmen who visited our farm.
There was the Watkins man, and the Fuller Brush man, and the
McConnon’s Products man. We generally bought from Mr. A .Morris
Barber, a Spring Valley resident who was the McConnon’s Products man,
a fine salesman for over fifty years. I can still hear him rattling off a long
list of products by memory, everything from fly spray to insecticide for
your cabbages. “Vanilla extract, lady, for cooking.” Some brushes, some
fly swatters.

He drove an enclosed van, with a back door that opened, swinging out,
and the shelves along the inside walls of the van were filled with invento-
ry. He would go in there and get things from his supply when you ordered.
He always had a little kit that he carried with many samples, and you could
buy or not. Generally my folks did.

We really enjoyed him. He was so polite, so businesslike. He usually
arrived at our farm just about 11:30 am, and Mom would invite him to stay
for noonday dinner. He always said, “Well, yes, thank you.” Then he
would generally leave us something that was useable around the house, as
sort of a tip. A.M. Barber died August 12, 1996, at the age of 94, in Spring
Valley.

Sparky Bartlett, the Horse Trader

Recently I chuckled while I was reading Jailhouse Stories, by Neil
Haugerud, Fillmore County’s sheriff in the 1950s and 1960s. The book is
a collection of memories of a small-town sheriff that was published in 1999
by the University of Minnesota. When he told about Sparky Bartlett of
Spring Valley being on the rampage again, it reminded me of how Sparky
used to come to our farm when I was a boy, carrying several horses of var-
ious sizes and colors in his truck.

I remember Sparky always had a cigar in his mouth — Neil says they
were White Owl cigars. His shirt pockets were filled with cash for quick
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transactions. I doubt if Sparky ever declared his income for taxes. But he
was a successful “horse jockey,” or livestock salesman — and I’m sure he
sold other items a farmer might need, if the price was right. He was a man
of few words, rather abrupt when dickering. There were times that we
made a good horse deal with Sparky, either by trade or cash. I remember
we bought a bay gelding named Chub from him, a good reliable farm
horse.

Neil says that when Sparky had hit the bottle too hard, he got wild, and
Neil would have to jail him occasionally until he sobered up. In the morn-
ing, he would be on his way back to his little farm with the red barn on
highway 63 on the south edge of Spring Valley.

Sparky Bartlett was a memorable character.

Hired Men

When [ was a young boy in the 1930s and early 1940s, Dad usually had
a hired man from about April through October. That covered spring plant-
ing time until autumn harvest. Men needed work, and we needed farm help.

One of the finest hired men ever at our farm was Harold C. Smith of
rural Spring Valley. At age 18, he worked for dad from March 1 to
November 1, 1934, at $25 per month. He stayed at our home all during that
summer, saved his money, and bought himself a 1930 Ford coupe. The
folks so appreciated Harold Smith’s dedicated work that when a traveling
salesman came along peddling suits, and Harold saw a beautiful suit that
was available for $20, Dad gave him an “advance” so he could buy it.
Harold later told me he wore that suit for many years.

The following year, our neighbor Harry Carothers, who lived a mile
east of us, offered Harold $35 a month to work for him, and he was gone.
Harold always wanted to farm on his own, and eventually bought a farm
near what is called Good Earth Village today. He farmed there for several
years before moving to Spring Valley, where he worked as a carpenter and
bee keeper and served as mayor of Spring Valley from 1969 through 1975.
When he and his son sold the bee business in 1974, it had grown to 700
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hives, with 1800 colonies, producing over 400 fifty-gallon barrels of honey
a year. During those years, the price of honey rose from 14 cents to 50
cents a pound. At this writing, Harold and Mrs. Smith have been married
65 years, and still live in Spring Valley.

There were other great hired men. Marvin Behrens of Eyota was
always such a polite person. I don’t remember where Floyd Van Wert came
from, but I do recall how well-dressed he was when he went to town on
Saturday night, complete with suit and tie. Then there was Bill Bramble of
Pleasant Grove. I remember Bill Bramble shocking grain in hot weather
and telling me, “the hotter the weather, the better.” I was a little lad, car-
rying cold water out to Bill in a two-quart crock-jug, and my, how he could
drink that cold water! He really set up a lot of grain shocks, which was so
vital after the grain binder went through before threshing started.

Stanley Livingston, also from Pleasant Grove, helped Dad put a new
channel iron roof on the barn in the summer of 1940. We had purchased
that iron roof from Frank Cermak at Chatfield Lumber Yard for $150.
There were two lengths of iron for that hip roof, eleven feet on the lower
part and nine feet on the upper part. It was all done using only ladders, no
staging. I was nine years old that summer, and my job was on the ground,
cutting two 23-inch boards to close in the cupola which was always a haven
for pigeons. When you had pigeons, you always had unwanted hunters
shooting at them, putting holes in the roof and the old weathervane horse
atop the cupola. There were three lightning rods on the forty-four foot
ridge of the roof. That iron roof really dressed up the old barn, originally
built in 1902. The barn is gone now, as are all the other buildings on the
farm, with the exception of the hog house that was rebuilt in 1938.

In early 2001, I read the obituary in the Rochester Post-Bulletin of
Boyd Baker, age 80, of Chatfield. Boyd had been a good hired man work-
ing for Dad the summer of 1936, when he was just 16. Boyd was a very
likeable young man, and I’'m sure I drove him crazy that summer. I was
four, going on five, and I always tagged along, hanging on to the hammer-
loop on his overalls’ right hip. Wherever he went, I'd be hanging on. He
never told me to stop, but I'm sure he must have felt nervous with me
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always beside him while he was trying to work. One day he cut off that
hammer loop, and I really felt lost. Boyd’s brothers Gordon and Norbert
also worked for Dad at various times. The Baker family lived next to the
stone church three and a half miles southeast of our farm. Later I'd attend
Chatfield High with Maurice and Jon Baker and their sister Margie.

They Rolled Their Own

Cigarettes today sell over the counter for $3 to $5 a pack. I wonder
how many laborers remember how to roll their own smokes.

This was the procedure used by the hired men on our farm during the
1930s and 1940s. A man would carry in the breast pocket of his shirt a
small cloth bag filled with finely-chopped leaf tobacco. He also had a roll
of flat cigarette papers. He would hold the paper between the forefinger
and long finger of his left hand (if he was right-handed). Then, slowly and
gently, he would pour the tobacco into the oval-shaped “weed.” When it
was full enough, he rolled it into a cylindrical cigarette and licked the edge
of the paper with his tongue, supplying enough moisture to make it stick.

Then he would put it in his mouth and strike a match. If he had a match
book, he’d strike the match on its cover, but if he was using wooden match-
es, he would lift his right knee, so that the cloth of his britches was pulled
tight against the back side of his thigh. Then he would strike the match on
the smooth surface of his trousers, and there was flame.

There was always the danger of sparks out-of-doors, with the straw
stacks and all. The safest place to smoke was in an open field. My fami-
ly did not smoke, so if a hired man was smoking in the house, Mother
would put out an old dish for him to use as an ash tray. If there was no ash
tray handy, the smoker would often flake the tobacco ash into the cuff of
his overalls pants leg.

I must have seen these men making their cigarettes hundreds of times
in those years. I can’t recall any of them ever smoking a pipe, although
Rob Hudson, our next-door neighbor to the west, always smoked a corn-
cob pipe.
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Harley, age 10, and “Jack” the
St. Bernard Dog.

My Dad, Homer W. Flathers, in 1951, surrounded by several steers and spotted Poland
China boars.
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Hale’s Barn — 202 feet long . . .
a Clint Kueker illustration.
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This is the last major building on the farm, the 20 by 20 hog house, rebuilt in 1938-39.
Harley cared for 8 sows with new litters when he was 8 years old each morning before

school. That meant cleaning, bedding and feeding. He wanted those pens to be a “show
place.” Photo by Leonard L. Smith, Sept. 2003

Hale farm with 202 foot long barn 5 miles northeast of Racine, Minnesota. Many great 4-
H & Fillmore County Farm Bureau meetings were held in this beautiful home . . . built in
the early 1900s.
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The three Hale brothers at Steam T}

weshing Day at their farm August 1971. L-R Edward,

John, a licensed Steam-Locomotive railroad engineer, and Robert, standing beside John's
steam engine.

2 s
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970s. Robert Hale pitches grain bundle into the slat-belt feed-

er of the 36 inch Minneapolis grain separator. Machine is belt driven by steam engine 60-
75 feet away, thus the long drive belt.

Steam thr